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A ONE-OF-A-KIND 
MARKER 

Above The International Boundary Marker, also known as the Republic of Texas Granite Marker, in the center, is located  the Louisiana-Texas 
border and delineates the boundary between the Republic of Texas and the United States. The granite pillar was placed at this location in 
1841. Photograph courtesy of Atlas Obscura. 

Opposite:The stone monument is now listed on the National Register of Historic Places, and the surrounding two acres were deeded to the 
Texas Historical Foundation (THF). Photograph courtesy of Atlas Obscura. Original in color. 

BY D. CLARK WERNECKE, PH. D. 

BETWEEN THE REPUBLIC OF TEXAS 
AND THE UNITED STATES
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From left to right, the characters in the San Antonio Conservation Society's 1924 puppet playlet, which promoted historic preservation, 
are: Fire and Police Commissioner Phil Wright, Park Commissioner Ray Lambert, Mayor John W. Tobin, Street Commissioner Paul Stef-
fler, Tax Commissioner Frank Bushick, the goose, the state manager, and Mr. and Mrs. San Antonio. Photograph by Lewis F. Fisher, 
courtesy of the San Antonio Conservation Society Foundation.

Just off a quiet farm-to-market road in East Texas 
there is a small sandy pull-off often used by pass-
ing trucks. Near there, under the shade of the tree 
line, is a nine-inch rectangle of granite about five 
feet high that tells an extraordinary Texas history 

story. The sides of the marker are engraved “U. S.,” “R. T.,” 
and “Meridian boundary, Established A. D. 1841.” This 
inconspicuous stone designates the international boundary 
between the Republic of Texas and the United States and is 
the only such marker in the country today. 

EARLY HISTORY

The eastern border of Texas was well known long before 
the Texas Revolution. When France sold the Louisiana Ter-
ritory to the United States in 1803, the French foreign min-
ister was asked about the location of the western boundary 
of Louisiana and replied, “I do not know. You must take it as 
we received it.” This confusing state of affairs was corrected 
by the U. S. Congress when it passed an act in 1811 allowing 
the people of Louisiana to form a government and constitu-
tion as a state, and then again in the Louisiana Constitution 
of 1812. The western border of Louisiana was to be the River 
Sabine.

This was formalized in international law with the Adams-
Onís Treaty in which Spain also relinquished its claims to 
Florida. The agreement was quickly signed and ratified by 
the United States in 1819, though Spain, for political reasons, 
postponed confirmation for two years. That delay required 
the U. S. Senate to ratify the agreement again, which it did, 

though not without debate as to whether or not Spain should 
also cede Texas to the United States. 

While the treaty made clear that the Sabine and the 32nd 
parallel north to the Red River was the boundary, it left a 
lot of hazy detail. Rivers change course and can be prob-
lematic borders. The Adams-Onís Treaty stipulated the 
western bank of the Sabine as the boundary, while the 1811 
Act of Congress and the Louisiana Constitution specified 
the middle of the river. Should a line drawn in the river be 
midway between the two banks or one following the deepest 
channels of the river? 

Following Mexico’s War of Independence, the United 
States signed the Treaty of Limits with the United Mexican 
States in 1828 utilizing the same language as the Adams-
Onís Treaty for Texas’s eastern boundary. This pact was 
reaffirmed by the two nations in 1831 and 1835.

POST-TEXAS REVOLUTION

After the Texas Revolution, the new Republican govern-
ment sent Senator William H. Wharton to Washington as 
minister plenipotentiary (the title of ambassador was not 
used until 1893). Wharton’s instruction from Secretary 
of State Stephen F. Austin was explicit: his f irst mission 
was to pursue annexation but, should the United States 
decline, then he was to seek a treaty of amity, limits, and 
commerce.

While annexation was the goal, the new government of 
Texas was also anxious to clarify the eastern border for other 
practical reasons. First, there were both rumors and some 
direct representations by the United States that the Neches, 
rather than the Sabine, should be the eastern border, and 
Texas did not want to surrender any of its territory. There 
were also reasons of commerce. Planters in the state were 
trying to ship their crops, cotton and sugar, to market, 
but any ship coming down the Red River crossed into 
undisputed U. S. territory and by doing so, was subject to 
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From left to right, the characters in the San Antonio Conservation Society's 1924 puppet playlet, which promoted historic preservation, 
are: Fire and Police Commissioner Phil Wright, Park Commissioner Ray Lambert, Mayor John W. Tobin, Street Commissioner Paul Stef-
fler, Tax Commissioner Frank Bushick, the goose, the state manager, and Mr. and Mrs. San Antonio. Photograph by Lewis F. Fisher, 
courtesy of the San Antonio Conservation Society Foundation.

though not without debate as to whether or not Spain should 
also cede Texas to the United States. 

While the treaty made clear that the Sabine and the 32nd 
parallel north to the Red River was the boundary, it left a 
lot of hazy detail. Rivers change course and can be prob-
lematic borders. The Adams-Onís Treaty stipulated the 
western bank of the Sabine as the boundary, while the 1811 
Act of Congress and the Louisiana Constitution specified 
the middle of the river. Should a line drawn in the river be 
midway between the two banks or one following the deepest 
channels of the river? 

Following Mexico’s War of Independence, the United 
States signed the Treaty of Limits with the United Mexican 
States in 1828 utilizing the same language as the Adams-
Onís Treaty for Texas’s eastern boundary. This pact was 
reaffirmed by the two nations in 1831 and 1835.

POST-TEXAS REVOLUTION

After the Texas Revolution, the new Republican govern-
ment sent Senator William H. Wharton to Washington as 
minister plenipotentiary (the title of ambassador was not 
used until 1893). Wharton’s instruction from Secretary 
of State Stephen F. Austin was explicit: his f irst mission 
was to pursue annexation but, should the United States 
decline, then he was to seek a treaty of amity, limits, and 
commerce.

While annexation was the goal, the new government of 
Texas was also anxious to clarify the eastern border for other 
practical reasons. First, there were both rumors and some 
direct representations by the United States that the Neches, 
rather than the Sabine, should be the eastern border, and 
Texas did not want to surrender any of its territory. There 
were also reasons of commerce. Planters in the state were 
trying to ship their crops, cotton and sugar, to market, 
but any ship coming down the Red River crossed into 
undisputed U. S. territory and by doing so, was subject to 

federal tariffs, duties, and fees. The 
other route from the north to the sea 
was the Sabine, but Texas representa-
tives in Washington told the U. S. State 
Department that “complaints have 
been made, and begin to be frequent, of 
seizure and destruction by the authori-
ties of the United States of the produce 
of Texas in its transit above and below 
Nacogdoches.”

Memucan Hunt, Jr., with credentials 
as minister extraordinary, was sent to 
Washington in December 1836 to as-
sist Wharton in his work. The politi-
cal situation in the United States was 

a delicate one for Texas to traverse. 
Northern states were suspicious of the 
southern slaveholder’s motivations in 
supporting Texas statehood. Presi-
dent Andrew Jackson had previously 
offered to buy Texas from Mexico 
and was rebuffed. Jackson had also 
sent an agent to Mexico whose clum-
siness and bribery left the Mexican 
government rightly suspicious. In 
addition, the Texas Revolution had 
been led by Sam Houston, a known 
protégé of Jackson’s. The president 
spelled out many of these issues in an 
address to Congress in December 1836 

and also made 
it clear that it 
would be easier 
for all if Texas 
came to terms 
with Mexico or 
was recognized 
by some other 
nation before 
the United 
States. Minister 
Plenipoten-
tiary Wharton 
thought the 
chance of an-
nexation was 
very low and 
that there was a 
high probabil-
ity of civil war 
in the United 
States should 
that occur.

While 
Jackson had 
distanced him-
self from the 

decision by deferring to Congress and 
stating the case for delay, Wharton, 
Hunt, and friends of Texas in Con-
gress pressed ahead. In February 1837, 
the House of Representatives recom-

mended recognition, and in March, 
the Senate approved the measure. In 
his final act as president, President 
Jackson appointed a chargé d’ affaires 
to the Republic of Texas, recognizing 
sovereignty.

After being assured of this recog-
nition, Wharton resigned his posi-
tion and headed home to Texas, with 
Memucan Hunt assuming his role. 
Given the political climate in the 
United States, the question of an-
nexation was obviously going to be 
delayed at best, so Hunt concentrated 
on getting the United States to agree 
on the border as a preliminary to a 
commercial treaty. Texas Secretary of 
State Dr. Robert Irion sent instruc-
tions that a border treaty should be 
governed by the Adams-Onís Treaty 
and subsequent agreements with 
Mexico, with the border beginning 
at the mouth of the Sabine, following 
the river until it intersected the 32th 
degree of longitude, and then north 
to the Red River according to John 
Melish’s map of 1818.  Hunt tried to 
hasten a decision by informing the 
U. S. Secretary of State John Forsyth 
on August 4 that Texas had already 
appointed a border commissioner and 
that he hoped the United States would 
do so soon. In fact, this was not true. 
President Houston was not authorized 
to appoint a commissioner until later 
in September and, when he did not 
promptly act, the Texas Senate reau-
thorized the appointment of the survey 
commissioner on December 1.

Houston gave Hunt complete powers 
to negotiate an agreement, which he 
presented to the U. S. State De-
partment. Secretary Forsyth tried 
again to make the argument that the 
Neches was the eastern boundary, 
but Hunt stuck to his instructions 
and pointed out that the treaties with 

Opposite page, top: Memucan Hunt, Jr., repre-
sented the Republic of Texas in negotiations 
with the United States to establish a boundary 
between the two countries. Photograph cour-
tesy of the Library of Congress Prints and Pho-
tographs Division.
  
Opposite page, bottom: This detail is from a 
map of the United States drawn in 1818 by 
John Melish. The map was recognized as 
the final authority on the establishment of the 
Republic of Texas boundary. Photograph 
courtesy of the Tennessee State Library and 
Archives. Original in color. 
  
This page, above: This boundary commis-
sion map shows the offset and position of the 
granite boundary marker (black circle). Image 
courtesy of the Library of Congress Geogra-
phy and Map Division. Original in color.

Article III of the Adams-Onís Treaty 
determined the boundary between 
the Republic of Texas and the United 
States thusly:

“The boundary-line between the 
two countries, west of the Mississippi, 
shall begin on the Gulph of Mexico, 

at the mouth of the river Sabine, in 
the sea, continuing north, along the 
western bank of that river, to the 
32d degree of latitude; thence, by a 
line due north, to the degree of lati-
tude where it strikes the Rio Roxo of 
Nachitoches, or Red River.” 

Treaty Language
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Big Thicket-Inspired Art, Literature, and 
Conservation  

Left: A state historical marker (left)  
and road sign (right) provide visitors 
to the remote Panola County location 
of the East Texas boundary marker  
with important details regarding the 
importance of the site.  The surveying 
process was fi lled with multiple chal-
lenges and took two years to com-
plete. Both photographs courtesy of 
the Texas Historical Foundation.

Spain and Mexico were explicit regard-
ing the Sabine. Finally, on April 25, 
1838, Forsyth and Hunt signed a Treaty 
of Limits calling for the appointment of 
commissioners and surveyors who would 
meet within 12 months at New Orleans. 
While the U. S. moved quickly on desig-
nations, assembling an entourage was not 
easy for the Republic, which attempted 
six times to appoint a commission (see 
sidebar).  

Finally, though, the commission, led 
by representatives John Overton for the 
U. S. and Menucan Hunt for the Re-
public of Texas, was organized in New 
Orleans on August 8, 1838, and resolved 
to meet at the mouth of the Sabine. 

The group did so on November 12, 
1838, at Green’s Bluff (modern-day 
Orange, Texas). Even then, there were 
problems to be resolved before surveying 
could begin. First, the American topo-
graphical engineer came equipped with 
astronomical instruments to ascertain 
the latitude and longitude, but the Texas 
commission did not have access to such 
devices. Overton tried once more to 
insist on the Neches as a boundary, but 
Hunt’s arguments and the observation 
that the Neches ran to the northwest 
convinced Overton that the Sabine was 
the proper border. The last major hurdle 
came about because neither Texas nor 
the United States could find a copy of 
Melish’s map on which the previous 

treaties had been based, and Overton 
and Hunt were at odds about the loca-
tion of the boundary. Finally, the Re-
public of Texas conceded to the U. S. in 
order to finally establish the borderline. 
In 1848, the United States Congress 
changed the boundary to the center of 
the river, and 125 years later, in 1973, 
the revision was upheld by the country’s 
Supreme Court.

The commission finally started survey 
work on May 21, 1839, erecting a mound 
50 feet in diameter and seven feet high 
with a 36-foot pole in the center where 
Sabine Lake emptied into the sea. Hunt 
was still incensed with what he thought 
was betrayal of Texas’s rights to the 
Sabine and threatened to quit over the 
point. Rather than slow down the border 
demarcation any longer, Texas Presi-
dent Mirabeau Lamar replaced Hunt 
as commissioner with George Smyth 
on May 22. By June 6, the commission 
had reached Logan’s Ferry (modern-day 
Logansport, Louisiana), but money had 
run out. Also, the hot summer—and the 
diseases that season brought—was ap-
proaching, so they adjourned once more.

Returning in the spring of 1840, the 
commission found the Sabine completely 
f looded. Daunted but not deterred, a 
solution was proposed to move the work 
forward. The group would survey a line 
north from their camp on the bluffs and 
then return west to intersect the 32nd 

Thank You, But No   

The Texas appointments to the 
boundary marker commission 
were somewhat embarrassing. In 
December 1838, under pressure 
from the Texas Senate, Shelby 
Corzine was confirmed as commis-
sioner. Unfortunately, no one had 
consulted Corzine, who declined 
to serve. In his stead, Charles Taylor 
was proposed but never acted on by 
the Senate. Three weeks after being 
notified by the U. S. regarding their 
appointments, Texas announced 
that Branch T. Archer would be the 
commissioner, C. R. Johns the sur-
veyor, and Hamilton Bee the clerk. 
Archer also refused the nomination, 
so Isaac Jones or David Sample 
were proposed, along with a new 
surveyor George W. Smyth. Jones 
also turned down the appointment, 
even though the date for the meet-
ing in New Orleans was quickly 
approaching. Lieutenant Colonel 
P. B. Dexter of the Texas Army 
was empowered to act on Texas’s 
behalf at the gathering and was 
told to defer to Jones or Sample, 
should they show up. ■
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parallel, which they assumed would 
be above the f looded area. The in-
tersection, however, came in on low, 
swampy ground around Garrison’s 
Creek. Using a compass, the team cut 
a line north to the first higher ground 
they could find, which was two miles 
and 1,998.5 feet north of the Sabine. 
There, on April 23, 1841, they erect-
ed the granite marker that still stands 
today. The plan was to wait for the 
river to recede, and then survey back 
to the south to find the actual inter-
section with the river. Interestingly, 
the official maps of the commission 
show another granite block marking 
that junction, but the journal record 
of the commission makes no mention 
of ever returning to this spot. 

For two months, from April 24 to 
June 24, 1841, the boundary commis-
sion worked northward designating 
their progress with mounds 15 feet in 
diameter and five feet high, placing 
an eight-foot wood post in the cen-
ter. At each of these markers, they 
buried a bottle containing a parch-
ment with the names of the men 
representing the two countries as 
well as the site coordinates. In 1941, 
the State of Louisiana re-marked 
the border with Texas and revisited 
a number of these mounds, finding 
several broken bottles, and at one 
located at mile six, (about three-and-a 

Left: An old parchment, con-
taining the names of the survey 
crew members and site coor-
dinates, was found inside of 
a bottle buried at mile marker 
six. Upon removal in 1941, it 
was sent to the FBI for study. 
FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin 
10(11):24-25. 
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house Chase built for his family in 1959, 
located in Houston’s Riverside Terrace 
community. The upscale neighborhood 
became home to affluent Black families 
during the 1950s and 1960s. The Chase 
residence was a pavilion of original 
design, set within a cluster of pine trees, 
that captured the spirit of mid-20th-
century Houston. David Heymann, a 
professor of architecture, described it as 
“Houston’s first modernist house.” The 
structure had a flat roof, and the exterior 
was veneered with red Roman brick (of 
a lesser height than modern brick and 
made in a variety of shapes and sizes). 
The center of the house featured an 
atrium courtyard surrounded by glass-
faced rooms. Here, John and his wife 
raised their children.

Court announced its decision on Sweatt 
v. Painter, which challenged The Univer-
sity of Texas Law School’s “separate but 
equal” segregation policy. Because the 
Court’s favorable ruling required the uni-
versity to integrate all its graduate-level 
programs, Chase was able to apply in 
the summer of 1950, just two days after 
the ruling. He was one of four Black 
students admitted to the graduate school 
that year, four years before the university 
was fully integrated.

After earning his master’s degree in 
1952, he could not find employment 
within the all-White architectural com-
munity, which barred him from satisfying 
the internship requirement needed to 
obtain a professional license. Undaunted, 
Chase successfully argued for an exemp-
tion from the Texas Board of Archi-
tectural Examiners and was allowed to 
take the licensing exam, which he passed 
in 1954. With that, Texas’ first Black 
architect opened his own firm and taught 
himself how to run a business.  

Chase first began designing projects 
in Austin, including the David Cha-
pel Missionary Baptist Church, but he 
soon was drawn to Houston, the state’s 
evolving metropolis. There, he received a 
commission for the First Shiloh Baptist 
Church, a towering temple built in the 
mid 1950s in the city’s Fifth Ward. He 
also was awarded projects from Texas 
Southern University and Tuskegee Uni-
versity in Alabama.

Chase knew how to market to the 
Black religious community. Rainey 
Knudson of the Houston Chronicle wrote 
that the architect’s son Tony once said, 
“Every Sunday we’d go to a different 
church, typically in East Texas….  And 
we’d be sweating, and the minister would 
introduce us, and they’d stand up and 
pass the plate for a building fund.” These 
marketing forays were successful, and 
church projects flowed into his firm’s 
office.

Chase’s religious architecture could 
be described as Ecumenical Modern, 
free from the architectural traditions of 
older Christian churches. His aesthetic 
captured the spirit of an uplifting of faith 
without the heavy baggage of historicism.  

Another project of special note is the 

Gillespie Country 
Schools

Institute of Architects’ highest level of 
recognition, and the first Black president 
of Texas Exes, The University of Texas 
alumni association.

Mindful of his own struggles, Chase 
cofounded the National Organization of 
Minority Architects at the AIA national 
convention in 1971. He was a mentor to 
many young professionals and was proud 
of the international diversity represented 
within his firm. 

John S. Chase, FAIA, who died in 
2012, stands out as a great Texas archi-
tect and a trailblazer who overcame ra-
cial barriers in his profession. His name 
should be one all Texans recognize.

Lewis S. Fisher, AIA, of San Antonio, is 
a retired architect and founder of a firm 
known for historic preservation and eccle-
siastic design. He is also a Texas Historical 
Foundation scholar director. After earning his master’s degree 

in 1952, [Chase] could not find 
employment within the all-White 
architectural community, which 
barred him from satisfying the 
internship requirement needed to 
obtain a professional license.

Chase used the house as an example 
of his design abilities and as a place to 
greet clients and politicians, gatherings 
that helped his firm prosper. In 1968, 
Chase transformed the original home, by 
adding a second story and enclosing the 
atrium to cater to the growing number 
of VIPs who came to his parties. Visitors 
included Texas Representative Garnet 
Coleman, U. S. Congressman Mickey 
Leland, Governor Ann Richards, and 
actor and musician Harry Belafonte. 

Professionally, it was John Chase’s 
talent that made him a leader in his 
field. He partnered with larger firms on 
projects such as the George R. Brown 
Convention Center in Houston (1987) 
and the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas 
(1992). His life was filled with accomp-
ishments: he was the first Black architect 
admitted to the Texas Society of Archi-
tects, the first Black Texan designated 
as a Fellow in the AIA, the American 

from the Duchy of Nassau (an in-
dependent state located in what is 
now Germany). He, along with his 
brother’s family, eventually settled 
in the Clear Springs area east of 
New Braunfels. Stautzenberger was 
a tischlermeister, or master car-
penter, who had served as the head 
cabinetmaker for the Duke of Nas-
sau. He was schooled in the grand 
Empire style of furniture making, 
popular among the aristocracy, and 
the much less ornate, but function-
al, Biedermeier style favored by the 
middle class. Although he did not 
make furniture professionally dur-
ing his time in Texas, preferring in-
stead to farm his land, he continued 
his woodworking craft, producing 
works of great beauty for friends 
and family. Many of his pieces sur-
vive today, passed down through 
the generations as venerated heir-
looms.

century Empire and Biedermeier 
styles in its design. 

The armoire is constructed of 
beautifully configured, book-
matched black walnut boards and 
features raised paneling on the 
doors, stiles (frame), and sides. 
Mounted on bracketed feet, it is 
crowned by a pierced gallery (open-
spaced edging around top) with 
acorn finials. The doors hang on 
fiche, or plug hinges, and the drawers 
exhibit dovetailed joinery and bev-
eled bottoms. The central cartouche 
bears the owner’s initials (NH) and 
the year of his marriage (1860). 

The piece is on display year-round 
as part of a unique collection of ear-
ly handmade furniture evocative of 
German-American pioneer life in 
the Texas Hill Country.—Justin L. 
Ball

Justin L. Ball, director of the Muse-
um of Handmade Texas Furniture, 
is completing work on his master’s 
degree in public history from Texas 
State University. 

Additional information about 
the Museum of Texas Hand-
made Furniture can be found at 
www.texashandmadefurniture.org. 

Above: The handcarved crown (pedi-
ment) detailing sits atop the Stautzen-
berger armoire. Photograph by Dan K. 
Utley.

The armoire is construct-
ed of...book-matched 
black walnut boards and 
features raised paneling 
on the doors, frame, and 
sides. 

A large kleiderschrank (wardrobe) 
made by Stautzenberger current-
ly serves as the crown jewel of the 
extensive furnishings collection at 
the New Braunfels museum. It was 
donated by local conservationists 
W. H. and Naan Dillen, whose for-
mer home, a restored German colo-
nial fachwerk (half-timber framed) 
farmhouse, today serves as the main 
gallery of the museum. Stautzen-
berger produced the piece in 1860 
to commemorate the wedding of his 
nephew, local blacksmith Nicholas 
Holtz. It is particularly intriguing 
because the wardrobe incorporates 
elements of both 18th- and 19th-

Gillespie school ad. 
p.u page 15, volume 4 
2018
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Restoring and 
Preserving Our History

WWW.HISTORICSCHOOLS.ORG

In the heart of the Texas Hill
Country visit 17 historic 

one-room schools built between 
1847 and 1930 by following 

the 120 mile Gillespie County
Country Schools Driving Trail

through the scenic 
Fredericksburg,Texas countryside. 

Visit our website for a tour map 
and information on our historic schools

and community centers.

All schools listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places.

Member of Country School Association of America.
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half miles north of the extant granite 
marker), they unearthed an intact 
bottle. That item and the parchment 
within were sent to the FBI’s crime 
lab, which successfully removed and 
unrolled the scroll.

The granite pillar north of Lo-
gansport marks that moment in time 
when, in 1841, surveyors from the 
two nations set about to establish a 
firm boundary agreement. With the 
exception of the granite block that 
may or may not have shown where 
the 32nd parallel actually intersected 
the Sabine, this is the only still-
standing permanent marker—all oth-
ers being of dirt and wood. To ensure
that the importance of the marker 
would never be forgotten, Louisiana’s 
DeSoto Parish Historical Society 
erected a fence and a plaque at the 
site in 1976, creating a small park. 
That same year, the marker was also 
named a Historic Civil Engineering 
Landmark by the American Soci-
ety of Civil Engineers. One year 
later, it was added to the National 
Register of Historic Places and 
the surrounding two acres deeded 
to the Texas Historical Founda-
tion (THF). In 2003, the boundary 
marker was named a Texas State 
Antiquities Landmark. 

The tiny park is still a quiet spot 
on the side of the road, but the 
THF is working with preservation 
partners to enhance the site and 
f inally give this historic monu-
ment—and the story behind it—
recognition that is justly deserved. S

D. Clark Wernecke, Ph. D., is an arche-
ologist and member of the Texas Histori-
cal Foundation board. 
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